### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

## THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

S272237

v.

## JASON CARL SCHULLER,

Defendant and Appellant.

Third Appellate District No. C087191 Nevada County Superior Court No. F16000111 The Honorable Candace S. Heidelberger, Judge

# **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

DAVID L. POLSKY Attorney at Law CA Bar No. 183235

P.O. Box 118 Ashford, CT 06278 Telephone: (860) 429-5556 Email: polskylaw@gmail.com

Attorney for Defendant/Appellant JASON CARL SCHULLER by appointment of the California Supreme Court

#

# **ISSUES PRESENTED**

Pursuant to this court's order of January 19, 2022, the issues to be briefed and argued are as follows:

- 1. What standard of prejudice applies to a trial court's error in refusing to instruct the jury on voluntary manslaughter based on imperfect self-defense?
- 2. Was the trial court's error in refusing that instruction in this case harmless?

### INTRODUCTION

In the instant case, the jury found Mr. Schuller guilty of first-degree willful, deliberate and premeditated murder in the shooting death of W.T.<sup>1</sup> On appeal, the Court of Appeal found that the trial court erred by denying Mr. Schuller's requested instruction on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter based on imperfect self-defense. (*People v. Schuller* (2021) 72 Cal.App.5th 221, 231-236.) However, it found the error harmless. (*Id.* at pp. 231, 237-240.)

The reviewing court rejected Mr. Schuller's contention that the failure to instruct on imperfect self-defense was an error of federal constitutional dimension that must be assessed for prejudice under the harmless beyond a reasonable doubt standard from *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18 [87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705]. (*Schuller, supra,* 72 Cal.App.5th at pp. 237-238.) Instead, it held that the instructional omission was only an error of state law and thus must be assessed for prejudice under the more forgiving reasonable probability standard announced in *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818. (*Ibid.*)

The *Schuller* court further held that the standard did not matter. (*Schuller*, *supra*, 72 Cal.App.5th at p. 238.) Focusing exclusively on isolated pieces of evidence favorable to the prosecution, the court concluded the evidence that Mr. Schuller was guilty of murder was overwhelming and thus the failure to instruct was harmless under either standard. (*Id.* at pp. 238-240.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Rule 8.90(b) of the California Rules of Court provides that, in all opinions, reviewing courts should consider referring to victims of crimes by their first name and last initial or initials only. Mr. Schuller follows that procedure as well, referring to the victim in this case by his initials (and omitting any reference to the last name of any related witnesses).

Mr. Schuller contends that the *Chapman* standard of prejudice governs the failure to instruct on imperfect self-defense, which modifies the definition of malice, an essential element of the greater offense of murder. Moreover, he submits that, by failing to consider the totality of the evidence before the jury, the Court of Appeal misapplied both the *Chapman* and *Watson* standards and that, under either standard, the instructional error in this case was prejudicial.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The sole count of an information charged Mr. Schuller with malice murder (Pen. Code,<sup>2</sup> § 187, subd. (a) and alleged he personally discharged a firearm, which caused the victim's death (§ 12022.53, subds. (b), (c), (d)). (1CT 58-61.) Mr. Schuller pled not guilty by reason of insanity. (2RT 281-287.)

During the guilt phase of his trial, the jury found Mr. Schuller guilty of first-degree murder and found the firearm allegation true. (2RT 405, 535-536.) At the close of the sanity phase, the jury was deadlocked. The trial court dismissed the jury, and a new sanity phase ensued before a different jury. (2RT 428-429.) Following the second sanity phase trial, the jury found Mr. Schuller to have been legally sane at the time of the offense. (3CT 660-661, 664.)

Thereafter, the trial court sentenced Mr. Schuller to state prison for 50 years to life, consisting of 25 years to life for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Hereafter, all statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated.

offense plus 25 years to life for the firearm enhancement. (3CT 818-819.)

Mr. Schuller appealed. On appeal, he argued that the trial court prejudicially erred by denying his request for an instruction on voluntary manslaughter based on imperfect self-defense. In its published opinion, the Court of Appeal agreed that the trial court erred because there was substantial evidence supporting the instruction but held that the error was harmless under either *Chapman* or *Watson*. (*Schuller*, *supra*, 72 Cal.App.5th 221.) This court granted Mr. Schuller's petition for review.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS<sup>3</sup>

#### A. Prosecution

In 2016, W.T. lived on Banner View Drive in Grass Valley in the bottom of a two unit residence; his adult daughter, Heather, lived above him. (2RT 518, 521-522; 3RT 561-562.) During the evening of March 20, 2016, a neighbor, Jesse McKenna, noticed Mr. Schuller's white Chrysler sedan parked by W.T.'s unit. (2RT 525-526, 530.) Mr. Schuller had been a friend of W.T. and had lived with him the previous summer, but Mr. McKenna had not seen his car there for "at least a month." (2RT 522-526; 3RT 553, 562-563.) At some point, W.T. mentioned to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Because the instant appeal concerns only an instructional error that occurred during the guilt phase, Mr. Schuller limits his discussion of the facts to the evidence presented during that phase. He addresses the sanity phase in the arguments below only to the extent it is relevant to his instructional claim.

Mr. McKenna that he told Mr. Schuller he was not welcome there anymore.<sup>4</sup> (2RT 542; 3RT 553.)

At about 9:00 p.m. on March 20, Mr. McKenna and Heather heard gunshots coming from W.T.'s unit followed by a loud sound that physically shook the building. (2RT 526, 528; 3RT 567, 569-570.) Mr. McKenna heard upwards of 10 shots followed by a brief pause long enough to reload and then 3 additional shots. (2RT 528-529.) Heather called down to her father repeatedly, but he did not answer. (3RT 570.) Then Mr. Schuller's Chrysler sped away. (2RT 528, 530-531; 3RT 569, 571.)

Mr. McKenna went to W.T.'s unit. (2RT 536.) Upon his arrival, he observed a fire inside. He opened the exterior doors leading to the kitchen and dining area and found W.T. lying on the floor and engulfed in flames, and the room was filled with smoke. (2RT 537-538.) A 911 call was made, and Mr. McKenna used a fire extinguisher to put out the flames. (2RT 537-538; 3RT 572-573.) Mr. McKenna also found the stove's four gas burners lit and gas emanating from the open oven. He turned off the burners and gas and left the residence. (2RT 539; 3RT 574.)

Law enforcement and fire personnel arrived at the scene shortly thereafter. (2RT 479-483, 485, 500-505; 3RT 650.) W.T.'s

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Around late December 2015, Mr. Schuller told Mr. McKenna that he was gay, (2RT 544-546.) Mr. McKenna believed W.T. was not gay. (2RT 545.) He wondered whether the killing might have been the result of a fight that arose after W.T. rebuffed advances by Mr. Schuller. (2RT 551.) But he said nothing during his testimony suggesting W.T. ever told him the reason why he did not want Mr. Schuller around let alone that it

charred and deceased body was on the floor between the kitchen and dining room areas and surrounded by a large pool of blood. (2RT 488, 507; 3RT 658.) He had sustained nine gunshot wounds to the left side of his head, which caused his death. (4RT 845-847.) The burns to his body were post mortem. (4RT 834-835.) The fire damage was consistent with pouring gasoline on the body and igniting it, and a small red gasoline can was on the dining room table and an acetylene torch was in the living room. (2RT 492; 3RT 655, 658-659, 690.) The loud sound that rattled the structure could have resulted from igniting the gasoline's vapors. (3RT 660.) And the gas from the open oven and lit burners were capable of accelerating the fire and resulting in a serious explosion within the residence. (3RT 656-657.)

Also on the dining room table was a "large kitchen knife," a handgun case, and an empty handgun magazine. (3RT 583-584, 710, 736, 751-752.) Thirteen expended bullet cases from a semiautomatic handgun were on the floor around W.T.'s body. (2RT 488-490, 508; 3RT 684; 4RT 845-847.) Blood splatter was found on the floors and walls but not on the knife. (3RT 710; 5RT 1332.) W.T.'s cell phone was found at the scene too, and it had a bullet hole in it. (3RT 710, 736, 752.)

In a bathroom, officers discovered that the shower was running, and there were dark smudges around the bottom of the shower. (2RT 514.) A towel was found there too and collected. (4RT 889.)

had anything to do with Mr. Schuller's sexuality. (2RT 542; 3RT 553.)

12

Meanwhile, Nevada County Sheriff's Deputy Brian Condon located Mr. Schuller driving his Chrysler away from W.T.'s home. (3RT 621-623.) After a high-speed pursuit that covered 38 miles and lasted an hour, law enforcement personnel were able to force the car to stop. (3RT 593-594, 624-634.) Mr. Schuller did not initially comply with efforts to get him to exit the vehicle but eventually did and was taken into custody. (3RT 597-598, 635.)

In the car, police found the semiautomatic handgun that discharged the expended cases found at the scene and the bullets that killed W.T.; the gun belonged to Mr. Schuller. (3RT 606-608, 720, 729-733.) A live round was in the chamber, and six bullets were in the magazine. The magazine was capable of holding 10 rounds, and the gun could hold an additional round in the chamber. (3RT 721, 750.)

Mr. Schuller's palm print was found on the gas can. One of his fingerprints was also found on a beer bottle located on the dining room table of W.T.'s unit. (3RT 784-786.) The bath towel in the unit had Mr. Schuller's blood on it. (3RT 805-806.) His DNA was also found on the handgun and acetylene torch. (3RT 807-812.) Additionally, W.T.'s blood was found on Mr. Schuller's pants. (3RT 813-816.)

# B. Defense

# 1. Background Information

In 2013, when he was 32 years old, Mr. Schuller moved from Nebraska to Grass Valley for a short-term job. (4RT 1036, 1039-1040, 1043.) Once there, he met and befriended W.T. (4RT

1040-1042.) W.T. was a marijuana farmer, and Mr. Schuller began selling marijuana for him. (4RT 1041, 1044.) Over the next couple of years, Mr. Schuller lived with W.T. or stayed at his place sporadically and, when not staying with W.T., would still hang out with him there. (4RT 1044-1045, 1046-1050.)

At some point in early 2016, Mr. Schuller was involved in a vehicle accident and suffered a head injury. (4RT 1061; 5RT 1354.) In the aftermath of the accident, he began seeing and speaking to dead people. (4RT 1062-1063.) He already had a long history of hallucinatory experiences and delusional thoughts that began as a child. (4RT 1063, 1065-1072.) After the accident, Mr. Schuller also began seeing what he referred to as "the light." He believed it was a gift from God that protected him and, when shared with others, could change people for the better. He told W.T. about it. (4RT 1084-1088.)

Stephen Smith worked at a bar that Mr. Schuller frequented. He noticed that Mr. Schuller's demeanor changed after the accident. Mr. Schuller had been quite jovial before the event but subsequent to it was not getting along with other patrons, to the point Mr. Smith would have to ask him to leave. Mr. Smith also observed him talking to people who were not there. (5RT 1350-1351.)

# 2. Trip to Nebraska

In March 2016, Mr. Schuller drove to Nebraska in response to voices in his head directing him to perform an operation there. (4RT 1077-1078.) The voices directed him in everything, including making music selections, setting the radio volume,

whether to smoke, and when to stop and get out of the car. (4RT 1080, 1082.) He believed the voices were real, and they stressed him out and scared him. (4RT 1081-1083.)

While in Nebraska, Mr. Schuller visited with his sister, Jennifer Schuller, several times between March 6 and 13. (5RT 1292-1294.) Jennifer was concerned about her brother's behavior. He was not tracking conversations properly and seemed to be experiencing auditory and visual hallucinations. For example, in the middle of a conversation, he would pause and say, "They are telling me to shut the fuck up." When she would ask him who, he would respond the government or the "people following me." That happened several times during the week, and she had never seen that behavior in him before. (5RT 1295.)

Mr. Schuller claimed to see and talk to snipers. (5RT 1296.) He said that, when he had his vehicle accident, "they placed a chip" in his head to track him via satellite. (5RT 1296-1297.) He also believed "they" could track him by other items, such as his car, clothes, money, phone, debit card, and anything else he carried on his person. (5RT 1297.) At some point during the trip, Mr. Schuller discarded his identification cards, debit and credit cards, and cellular telephone. (4RT 1098-1099.) Mr. Schuller told his sister that the accident was a set up and that even the police in Omaha were trying to set him up. (5RT 1297.)

To Jennifer, 90 percent of her brother's behavior was irrational; only about 10 percent of it reflected clarity. (5RT 1298.) He seemed to be in fear for his life and was not sleeping

much. (5RT 1296-1298.) He was also uncharacteristically aggressive. (5RT 1299.)

Jennifer last saw her brother on Sunday, March 13. (5RT 1293.) Over the next several days, she heard from friends that Mr. Schuller was getting worse. She tried to contact him on March 19 and 20 but to no avail. Because he seemed like he was losing touch with reality, she filed a missing person's report with the local police. (5RT 1299-1300.)

During the trip, Mr. Schuller began seeing and hearing people that he believed were trying to kill him, but he also believed that the "light" protected him. (4RT 1089-1098, 1100-1101.) Among those targeting him were police officers, who he believed were working for Satan. (4RT 1102-1107.) Mr. Schuller also began to see dark shadows coming out of the ground to grab people. (4RT 1097, 1100.) These experiences prompted him to want to return to California. (4RT 1100.) As he stopped at gas stations in Nebraska, Wyoming, Utah, and Nevada upon his return, he believed that people were shooting at him but also that he was protected. (5RT 1111-1126.) He did not sleep at all on the drive west and also did not use drugs, though he had a history of extensive drug use that he claimed reduced his hallucinations. (4RT 1067-1069; 5RT 1123.)

### 3. Winnemucca Interaction

On Saturday, March 19, 2016, Officers Daniel Klassen and Joel Martin of the Winnemucca Police Department in Winnemucca, Nevada were on patrol when dispatched to a gas station. They had received reports of a suspicious person and reckless driver. (5RT 1268-1270, 1279-1281.) The gas station was adjacent to and shared a parking lot with a hotel. Mr. Schuller's Chrysler fit the description of the one reported to police and was parked in the lot. (5RT 1269.) The officers' body cameras recorded the events that followed. (5RT 1270-1272.)

Because nobody was in the car, the officers proceeded into the hotel lobby, where they found Mr. Schuller on the telephone. They asked to speak with him outside. (1SCT 1.) On the way outside, Officer Martin stepped on an aluminum strip at the bottom of the lobby doorway, producing a loud popping sound. (5RT 1273, 1281; 1SCT 1-2.) Mr. Schuller responded that that was the sound of a "gunshot right behind my head" and accused the officers of trying to "hurt" and "attack" him. (1SCT 3.) The officers denied that. (1SCT 4.)

The officers said they had received a report that Mr. Schuller had been driving recklessly, and Mr. Schuller denied the accusation. They asked for his identification, but he could not produce any, although he gave them his name. (1SCT 3-4.) The officers indicated they thought he was refusing to produce identification because he was afraid of an outstanding warrant. Mr. Schuller denied that as well and said, "I'm worried about you guys weakening my army to kill me." (5RT 5.) He again claimed the sound in the doorway was a gunshot and demanded to see the body camera footage. (5RT 6.)

Mr. Schuller explained he did not have any identification because he went through a "cleanse moment," which prompted him to get rid of his cell phone, wallet, identification and other items. (1SCT 19; 5RT 1285.) He gave the officers his date of birth and driver's license number, and the officers were able to confirm his identity. (1SCT 7.)

During the interaction, Mr. Schuller kept moving around, which made the officers nervous. (1SCT 5, 15; 5RT 1274-1275.) He was also talking a little slow and could not recall his last stop. (1SCT 8-9.) The officers did not smell alcohol or marijuana on him and did not observe any signs warranting a field sobriety test. (5RT 1274-1275, 1281, 1284.)

Mr. Schuller told the officers it felt like they were attacking him and said something about the "police and agencies of the world . . . letting Satan" do something, but the thought was unintelligible. He asked the officers if they were Christian and believed in and had a relationship with Jesus. (1SCT 11; 5RT 1273-1275.) At some point later, Mr. Schuller mentioned the antichrist, who he said had been "painted" as a "fake miracle performer and a fake light." He also talked about the second coming. (1SCT 17; 5RT 1274.) In addition, Mr. Schuller claimed that three men "in there" had been trying to attack him in the throat with needles. (1SCT 12.)

The officers informed Mr. Schuller that his car matched the description of one involved in an incident and that they were going to search it. (1SCT 13-14.) Mr. Schuller suggested they might be planting something. (1SCT 14.) Officer Klassen said the search would be on video, but Mr. Schuller pointed out they would not give him the video of the gunshot so why should he believe they would give him the video of the search. (1SCT 14-15.)

The search of the car produced nothing. The officers subsequently searched Mr. Schuller, which also produced nothing. (1SCT 19-20; 5RT 1283-1284.) The encounter lasted about 55 minutes. (5RT 1283.) After the encounter, the officers let Mr. Schuller go. (5RT 1275.)

#### 4. Incident

Mr. Schuller returned to California on Sunday, March 20, 2016. (5RT 1124, 1127.) He believed that, to end all the threats against him, he had to go to Monterey Bay, put one foot in the sea, and say a prayer. (5RT 1125.) However, upon his return, he went first to W.T.'s residence, arriving at about 5:30 p.m. (5RT 1124, 1127.) Mr. Schuller told W.T. about the trip. The two men also drank beers and ingested marijuana. (5RT 1129-1130.)

With W.T.'s permission, Mr. Schuller took a shower. (5RT 1129, 1131.) While showering, he heard five subtle gunshots, looked out of the shower, and saw a misty figure. He asked if W.T. had shot at him, and W.T. seemed confused. (5RT 1132.)

After the shower, W.T. asked Mr. Schuller to get rid of a gun that Mr. Schuller had been storing at the residence. Mr. Schuller agreed and put it on the kitchen table so he could take it with him when he left. (5RT 1133-1135.)

Before Mr. Schuller could leave, W.T. asked him to "share the light," and Mr. Schuller did. (5RT 1135.) W.T. mentioned something about having a fondness for children, and Mr. Schuller thought sharing the light with him would cleanse him of his evilness. (5RT 1139.) However, this time, something unusual happened. (5RT 1135.)

Normally "the light" returns to Mr. Schuller after he shares it. On this occasion, W.T. kept it, smiled, looked outside, and said to someone, "See, I told you I could take it from him." (5RT 1135-1136.) Then W.T. got a knife from the kitchen, pursued Mr. Schuller, and tried to stab him. (5RT 1136-1137.) Mr. Schuller attempted to flee through the exterior doors, but they would not open. (5RT 1137.) Mr. Schuller asked W.T. if he was Lucifer, and W.T. nodded yes. W.T. then went for the gun on the table while raising the knife, but Mr. Schuller grabbed the gun first and pulled the trigger, shooting W.T. in the head. (5RT 1138.) W.T. fell to the ground and dropped the knife but then began to get back up. In response, Mr. Schuller fired at him repeatedly. (5RT 1138-1139.)

W.T. had tried to stab Mr. Schuller on a previous occasion, but Mr. Schuller did not take it seriously at the time. On this occasion, though, he was afraid for his life. (5RT 1140-1141.) He also thought that, if W.T. was Lucifer, the end of the world might be coming. (5RT 1142-1143.) Then, W.T.'s teeth flew out at Mr. Schuller, causing him more fear. Mr. Schuller shot W.T. again, emptying the gun. (5RT 1144.) He then reloaded the weapon with a fresh magazine. (5RT 1144-1145.) Meanwhile, W.T.'s telephone kept ringing and would not stop, so Mr. Schuller shot at it repeatedly. (5RT 1145.)

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