No. S272237

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

JASON CARL SCHULLER,

Defendant and Appellant.

Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, Case No. C087191 Nevada County Superior Court, Case No. F16000111 The Honorable Candace S. Heidelberger, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

To be sure, a state may not simply redefine elements as defenses so as to shift the burden of proof onto a criminal defendant. (See fn. 12, ante.) But in California, unlike Maine, defendants do not have the burden of proof to show the existence of imperfect self-defense. Thus, the jury in Schuller's case was not instructed that the burden shifted to him such that he had to prove that he acted in unreasonable self-defense or that without such proof, malice would be conclusively implied from an intentional killing. Because the Maine statute is quite different from California's law, *Mullaney* does not support Schuller's argument. Schuller's jury was properly instructed that the prosecution was burdened with proving beyond a reasonable doubt every element of the offense of murder. (2CT 443.) Importantly, Mullaney does not stand for the proposition that a mitigating circumstance that limits culpability or negates an element of an offense, even where the prosecution has the burden to prove it, is an element of the offense. And just two years after Mullaney, the Supreme Court in Patterson clarified that all *Mullaney* held was that the state must prove "every ingredient of an offense" and that it cannot shift to the defendant any part of that burden by means of a presumption. (Patterson, supra, 432) U.S. at p. 215.)

D. The absence of imperfect self-defense is analogous to other types of defenses that implicate state law only

Fundamentally, imperfect self-defense operates no differently from other defenses that negate an element of a crime and that are not considered to be part of the elements of a crime. In order for the jury to be instructed on the theory, the defendant must raise some evidence to show the existence of the defense. The burden of persuasion to show its absence may then shift to the prosecution. But proof of the absence of a defense in general has not been seen as an element of an offense, and the same should be true more specifically as to imperfect self-defense.

Section 26, for example, describes a range of circumstances or "defenses" which, the Legislature has recognized, operate to negate the mental state element of crimes and show there is no union of act and criminal intent or mental state. (See *People v. Mower* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 457, 479, fn. 7 [listing California defenses that merely require evidence that raises a reasonable doubt of an element].) When a defense operates to negate an element of the crime, the defendant must raise a reasonable doubt as to the underlying facts. (*Id.* at p. 479, citing Evid. Code, § 501.)

Imperfect self-defense, while denominated a form of voluntary manslaughter by this Court, operates identically to such defenses in that it is exculpatory in nature and acts to negate the element of malice where murder is alleged. Rather than operate as a complete defense to the charge of murder, however, it instead reduces murder to voluntary manslaughter.

Illustrative of this concept is *People v. Babbitt* (1988) 45 Cal.3d 660, where this Court considered whether the affirmative defense of unconsciousness should be considered an element of murder for purposes of due process. In *Babbitt*, the defendant was charged with murder, rape, burglary and robbery. One of the

theories advanced by the defendant was unconsciousness stemming from a psychomotor epileptic seizure. (Id. at p. 676.) The defendant argued that because unconsciousness negates the element of intent, proof of consciousness is a fact necessary to prove intent. Thus, according to the defendant, the presumption of consciousness created in CALJIC No. 4.31 impermissibly lightened the prosecutor's burden of proving intent, or, stated conversely, it impermissibly shifted the burden of negating intent to the defendant. (Id. at p. 691.) The People argued that consciousness is not an element of the offenses, but rather, unconsciousness is an affirmative defense, and that placing on the defendant the burden of proving an affirmative defense does not violate due process. (*Ibid.*) Only when there is evidence tending to show that the defendant was unconscious is the prosecution required to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that he was conscious, and in those circumstances there is no due process violation in permitting the prosecution to rely on the rebuttable presumption of consciousness. (Id. at pp. 691-692.)

The *Babbitt* court rejected the defendant's argument, holding that while the State had assumed the burden of disproving unconsciousness as an affirmative defense to the crime of murder, consciousness is not an element of murder for purposes of due process. (*Babbitt*, *supra*, 45 Cal.3d at p. 693.) The court relied on *Engle*'s pronouncement that determining whether the prosecution has a constitutional duty to negate an affirmative defenses depends, at least in part, on "the manner in which the State defines the charged crime," and that a State may

want to assume the burden of disproving an affirmative defense without also designating absence of the defense an element of the crime. (*Engle*, *supra*, 456 U.S. at p. 120.) The *Babbitt* court explained that the elements of murder are death, causation, and malice, whereas unconsciousness is a defense. (*Babbitt*, *supra*, 45 Cal.3d at p. 693.) It further reasoned,

Although the state, once the defendant raises the issue, has assumed the burden of disproving unconsciousness, this fact of itself does not transform absence of the defense—consciousness—into an element of murder for purposes of due process analysis. This is true even though unconsciousness negates the elements of voluntariness and intent, and when not voluntarily induced is a complete defense to a criminal charge.

(*Ibid.*) The court concluded that because consciousness is not an element of the offense of murder, the jury instruction did not impermissibly shift to the defendant the burden of negating an element, nor did the instruction violate due process by impermissibly lightening the prosecution's burden of proving every element beyond a reasonable doubt. (*Id.* at pp. 693-694.)

Comparing unconsciousness to imperfect self-defense provides a useful analogy. Just as the absence of unconsciousness is not an element of murder for purposes of due process, neither is the absence of imperfect self-defense.

In fact, *Barton* recognized that "voluntary manslaughter closely resembles an affirmative defense," because it is generally the defendant who offers evidence to show that the killing occurred in a sudden quarrel or heat of passion, or in unreasonable self-defense, and therefore the crime committed is not murder, but only voluntary manslaughter. (*Barton*, *supra*, 12

Cal.4th at p. 199.) In particular, unreasonable self-defense "closely resembles true self-defense," the only difference being whether the defendant's fear is reasonable or not. (*Id.* at pp. 199-200.) This Court has also noted that unreasonable self-defense involves and may be considered a form of mistake of fact. (*Elmore, supra*, 59 Cal.4th at pp. 130, 136-137, citing *Christian S., supra*, 7 Cal.4th at p. 779, fn. 3.) And this Court has held that "[e]rror in failing to instruct on the mistake-of-fact defense is subject to harmless error review under *Watson*." (*People v. Molano* (2019) 7 Cal.5th 620, 670, quoting *People v. Russell* (2006) 144 Cal.App.4th 1415, 1431; accord *People v. Watt* (2014) 229 Cal.App.4th 1215, 1219-1220 [collecting cases noting that *Watson* applies to failure to instruct on a lesser included offense, mistake of fact, and self-defense].)

As with many other defenses, the prosecution has the burden of proving the absence of imperfect self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt, and the relevant circumstance operates to negate an element of murder. Yet, just as this Court held in *Babbitt*, the absence of imperfect self-defense is not essential to establishing the crime of murder and the failure to instruct on this theory does not amount to a due process violation by impermissibly lightening the prosecution's burden of proving every element beyond a reasonable doubt.

Moreover, inasmuch as imperfect self-defense reduces culpability for murder by negating the element of malice, the theory resembles a "pinpoint" defense—one which "relate[s] particular facts to an element of the charged offense and highlight or explain a theory of the defense" in order to negate part of the prosecution's case. (*People v. Nelson* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 513, 542.) And this Court has treated such instructions as subject to the *Watson* standard of harmlessness applicable to errors of state law. (*People v. Pearson* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 306, 325.)¹³

Treating the absence of imperfect self-defense as part of the malice element of murder rather than like a defense would also, in practice, require trial courts in all cases involving a charge of murder to instruct on it, regardless of the state of the evidence. Taken to its logical end, the rule suggested by Schuller would impose an onerous instructional burden on trial courts in all cases involving homicide. Trial courts would be required to instruct juries that to prove a defendant guilty of murder, it must find (1) the defendant committed an act that caused the death of another person; (2) when the defendant acted, he had a state of

defense "resembles" a true affirmative defense because it relies on evidence usually presented by the defense and because it differs from the affirmative defense of self-defense only as to the reasonableness of the defendant's belief in the need to defend. (Barton, supra, 12 Cal.4th at pp. 199-200.) But it is not a true affirmative defense because it operates to negative an element of the crime, and in that way is similar to a pinpoint defense. (See People v. Bolden (1990) 217 Cal.App.3d 1591, 1601 [affirmative defense is "one which does not negate any element of the crime, but is a new matter which excuses or justifies conduct which would otherwise lead to criminal responsibility"]; see also People v. Frye (1992) 7 Cal.App.4th 1148, 1158; People v. Spry (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 1345, 1369.)

mind called malice aforethought; and (3) the defendant did not unreasonably believe that he was in imminent danger of being killed or suffering great bodily injury and that the immediate use of force was necessary to defend against the danger. Holding that the absence of imperfect self-defense is an element of murder would require trial courts to instruct the jury on imperfect self-defense (and heat of passion), regardless of its factual relevance, anytime murder is alleged. 15

In an effort to avoid that result, Schuller's argument implies a type of "situational element," in which trial courts would be required to instruct a jury with additional elements only where there is substantial evidence presented that the defendant killed in imperfect self-defense. While it would be possible to create such a new definition of murder, its situational nature illustrates the impracticality and potential confusion entailed in relabeling the absence of imperfect self-defense an element of murder. This Court should decline to adopt Schuller's interpretation and should hold, consistent with precedent, that the absence of

¹⁴ As noted above (see fn. 6, *ante*), there is no principled basis to treat heat of passion and imperfect self-defense any differently. Thus, if absence of imperfect self-defense is a required element for malice murder, then the absence of heat of passion would also be a required element.

¹⁵ Schuller's theory could also open the door to even further bloating of murder instructions. On the same theory, any factual scenario that would negate malice—for example, mistake of fact, discussed above—could be seen as part of the "element" of malice, requiring its addition to the standard malice instructions given to the jury.

imperfect self-defense is not an element of murder and that instructional error related to that doctrine does not violate the federal Constitution.

II. IN THIS CASE, THE ERROR IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT ON IMPERFECT SELF-DEFENSE WAS HARMLESS

Even if this Court determines that the error in this case violated the federal Constitution, affirmance is still required. And the same is therefore necessarily true under the state-law test. Under the more stringent *Chapman* standard that applies to federal constitutional errors, reversal is not required if it appears "beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict obtained." (Chapman, supra, 386 U.S. at p. 24; accord, *People v. Flood* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 470, 494.) "To say that an error did not contribute to the verdict is to find that error unimportant in relation to everything else the jury considered on the issue in question, as revealed in the record." (Flood, supra, 18 Cal.4th at p. 494.) If, after "a thorough examination of the record," a reviewing court can "conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury verdict would have been the same absent the error," it should affirm. (Neder v. United States (1999) 527 U.S. 1, 18, 19; accord, People v. Mil (2012) 53 Cal.4th 400, 417.)¹⁶

¹⁶ Schuller relies on *Sullivan*, *supra*, 508 U.S. at p. 279, for the proposition that a court in applying *Chapman* must examine the basis upon which "the jury actually rested its verdict" rather than speculate about what a hypothetical jury might have concluded. (OBM 66.) As the United States Supreme Court later recognized, however, "this strand of reasoning in *Sullivan* cannot (continued...)

If an instruction on imperfect self-defense had been given, the jury would have been told to convict Schuller of the lesserincluded offense of voluntary manslaughter if it concluded that he (1) actually believed that he was in imminent danger of being killed or suffering great bodily injury, and (2) actually believed that the immediate use of deadly force was necessary to defend against the danger, but (3) at least one of those beliefs was unreasonable. (See CALCRIM 571; 2CT 396-399.) The jury would also have been told to consider all the circumstances as they were known and appeared to the defendant. (CALCRIM 571.) Properly instructed, however, the jury would additionally have been informed that "unreasonable self-defense, as a form of mistake of fact, has no application when the defendant's actions are entirely delusional," though the defense may be based on the negligent misperception of objective circumstances. (Elmore, *supra*, 59 Cal.4th at pp. 136-137.)¹⁷

First, its first degree murder verdict, and rejection of second degree murder, shows that the jury necessarily rejected Schuller's testimony that he acted in self-defense, leaving no doubt the jury would have returned the same verdict had it been

^{(...}continued)

be squared with our harmless-error cases." (*Neder*, *supra*, 527 at p. 11; see also *People v. Aledamat* (2019) 8 Cal.5th 1, 12-13.)

¹⁷ *Elmore* held that a defendant's behavior that is entirely based on delusion is the proper subject of sanity-phase proceedings, but such behavior "was never intended to encompass reactions to threats that exist only in the defendant's mind." (*Elmore*, *supra*, 59 Cal.4th at p. 137.)

instructed regarding imperfect self-defense. (See *People v. Lewis* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 610, 646 ["Error in failing to instruct the jury on a lesser included offense is harmless when the jury necessarily decides the factual questions posed by the omitted instructions adversely to defendant under other properly given instructions."].) In *Manriquez*, the defendant was charged with four separate murders occurring on different occasions. (*People v. Manriquez* (2005) 37 Cal.4th 547, 551.) As to one of them, the murder of victim Baldia, the jury was instructed on heat of passion manslaughter, but the court declined a defense request to instruct on imperfect self-defense. (*Id.* at p. 580.) The *Manriquez* Court held that the instruction was properly declined because no evidence in the record supported it. (*Id.* at pp. 581-582.) The court further reasoned:

The jury's verdict finding defendant guilty of the first degree murder of Efrem Baldia implicitly rejected defendant's version of the events, leaving no doubt the jury would have returned the same verdict had it been instructed regarding imperfect self-defense. [Citation.] Accordingly, even if we were to assume the failure to instruct on imperfect self-defense violated defendant's constitutional rights, we would find the error harmless.

(*Id.* at p. 582.)

So too, the jury in this case, in determining that the murder was willful, deliberate, and premeditated, necessarily found that Schuller carefully weighed his decision to kill W.T., a finding inconsistent with his having an actual but unreasonable belief that he needed to kill to defend himself from imminent danger. And, the jury did so in decidedly quick fashion; the jury deliberated only 4 hours before reaching a first degree murder

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